## Long Island University

# Digital Commons @ LIU

Selected Full-Text Master Theses 2021-

LIU Brooklyn

2022

# Antibacterial Activity of Commiphora molmol (myrrha) against the yeast

Mohammad Hassan Alshehri Long Island University

Follow this and additional works at: https://digitalcommons.liu.edu/brooklyn\_fulltext\_master\_theses



Part of the Molecular Biology Commons

#### **Recommended Citation**

Alshehri, Mohammad Hassan, "Antibacterial Activity of Commiphora molmol (myrrha) against the yeast" (2022). Selected Full-Text Master Theses 2021-. 9.

https://digitalcommons.liu.edu/brooklyn\_fulltext\_master\_theses/9

This Thesis is brought to you for free and open access by the LIU Brooklyn at Digital Commons @ LIU. It has been accepted for inclusion in Selected Full-Text Master Theses 2021- by an authorized administrator of Digital Commons @ LIU. For more information, please contact natalia.tomlin@liu.edu.

## Antibacterial Activity of Commiphora molmol (Myrrha) Against the Yeast

## By

## Mohammad Alshehri

A Master's Thesis Submitted to the Faculty of Richard L. Conolly College,

Long Island University

In Fulfillment of

The Requirements for the Degree of

Masters of Science

October 19, 2022

MAJOR	SPONSORING COMMITTEE
Biology	
DEPARTMENT	Dr. Mrinal Bhattacharjee, Chairman
Life Sciences	
	Dr. Joseph Morin
CEDTIFIED DV.	Dr. Fatma Abo
CERTIFIED BY:	
Chairman of the Department	
Dr. Joseph Morin	

## Antibacterial Activity of Commiphora molmol (Myrrha) against the Yeast

## By

#### Mohammad Alshehri

A Master's Thesis Submitted to the Faculty of Richard L. Conolly College,

Long Island University

In Fulfillment of

The Requirements for the Degree of

Masters of Science

Oct 19, 2022

MAJOR	SPONSOR
Biology	
DEPARTMENT	Dr. Mrinal Bhattacharjee
Life Sciences	

## Acknowledgement

I would like to express my gratefulness for my advisor Dr. Mrinal Bhattcharjee. His sincerity of spirit and inventiveness entitles him to great esteem and honour. His transparency of communication, ripeness of thoughts and pleasing vision is a role model worthy of emulation. I appreciate all his contribution of time and ideas to make my masters experience productive and stimulating. I sincerely thanks to the committee Dr.Morin and Dr. Abu. Thanks for spending time to read my thesis and thanks for coming to my thesis defence. My project is the fruit of all the efforts which has been achieved by the support of many people. Thanks should be given to all my friends and my project colleagues for their kindness and moral support during our study. Thanks for their friendship and memories. I would like to acknowledge my family for showing their constant support always, especially during my masters. Finally, I thank all those who have helped me directly or indirectly in successful completion of my project. Anyone missed in this acknowledgement are also thanked.

Thank You.

# **Table of Contents**

Abstract	1
I. INTRODUCTION	2
Characteristics of Yeast	2
Virulence factors of Yeast	3
Diseases caused by Yeast	4
Treatment of Yeast Infection	6
Antibiotic resistance of Yeast	7
Commiphora molmol (Myrrha)	8
Antibacterial effect of Myrrha	10
II. MATERIALS	11
Myrrha Extract:	11
Microbial Strain:	
Peptone-glucose Broth:	12
Peptone-glucose Plates:	
III. Results	12
MIC of myrrha oil in nutrient-rich and nutrient-free media	12
Bactericidal activity of myrrha oil.	
Heat stability of the antibiotic component in myrrha oil	14
Effect of myrrha oil on yeast cells emerging from dormancy	
Nutrient-free buffer needed for initial entry of myrrha into cells	
Rate of killing of yeast after pre-incubation with myrrha oil extract	17
IV. Discussion	
Conclusion	19
References	21

# **List of Tables**

Table 1	25
Table 2	26
Table 3	26
Table 4	27
Table 5	28

#### **Abstract**

Commiphora molmol (myrrha) is widely used as a traditional medicine around the globe against inflammatory diseases. It is also considered to be effective as anti-fungal, anti-cancer and antioxidant agent. The minimum inhibitory concentration, bactericidal activity and heat stability of antibiotic component in myrrha oil extract has been investigated. The MIC was determined in nutrient free buffer and in nutrient rich peptone glucose buffer. The results showed that MIC was 0.6% in nutrient free buffer as no growth was shown by cells, whereas, in peptone glucose media a slight increase in cell count was seen. It can be concluded that it has strong antimicrobial activity on yeast in nutrient free medium as the oil is unable to show antibacterial activity on growing cells. Bactericidal activity of the oil was tested with yeast on both nutrient free phosphate buffer and nutrient rich media. After 15 minutes, 0.6% myrrha has reduced the cell viability by 99% in nutrient free phosphate buffer showing that it specifically kills the non-growing yeast cells compared to growing ones. Heat stability was tested and reported that oil is stable on heating up to 70°C for 90 minutes. Furthermore, the pre-incubation of yeast with myrrha oil extract was studied and results revealed that if pre-incubation take place in nutrient rich medium then there is no effect on viability of cells. Therefore, it can be determined that presence or absence of nutrients is effecting the cell viability. In conclusion, the results of the following study suggest that extract of myrrha can be used as an anti-fungal drug.

#### I. INTRODUCTION

The traditional lifestyle of human beings has been overruled by the scientific life through the availability of new food products, antibiotics and preventive measures at the doorstep of every individual. Now the pharmaceutical industries are offering new medicines against traditional fungal diseases, whereas, some new strains are a life threat to humans. Similarly, the lifesaving treatments as in case of cancer, are inducing fungal infections in immunosuppressed patients (Pappas et al 2018). At least 3 million species have been reported for fungal lineage including all subcategories of micro-organisms (Heitman 2011).

A human friendly fungus yeast is now considered as an emerging pathogen for microbiologists. Of the five yeast clades of yeast, *Candida albicans* is reported as pathogenic microbe while *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* (baker's or brewer's yeast) is the most studied one. For fungal infection in humans, 70% of the mortality is due to the Candida albicans with increased multi-drug resistance (Schwartz et al. 2018).

#### **Characteristics of Yeast**

The unicellular yeast has a similarity index with eukaryotic cells. The fungal organism has a history of use in the well-being of humans. Many new microorganisms are being employed in glucose fermentation and ethanol production, but *S. cerevisiae* yeast is still one of the most useful microorganisms for human beings. *S. cerevisiae* is a unicellular organism and shares some typical characteristics with mammalian cells. It multiplies through budding instead of fission. Somehow,

it is similar to eukaryotic cell by the means of fast growth, formation of smooth cream-colored colonies. Kasemets (2009) have used this model organism for toxicological studies. Ocampo and Barrientos (2008) used this as a disease model and Schenone et.al. (2013) did drug screening by using yeast.

#### Virulence factors of Yeast

Multiple microbial species interact with other living organisms after forming symbiotic, commensal, or parasitic relations. Similarly, the pathogenic relation of fungal species has been reported for human beings, however, their association with multiple diseases is still under investigation. The human-friendly yeast now needs major attention after its pathogenicity has been claimed by many scientists. Its subgroup *Candida albicans* was known as a human pathogen but causes disease only in facilitated conditions (ven der Does and Rep 2017). The underestimated pathogenicity of baker's yeast was verified when confirmed cases of fungal infections were truly linked with it. Like all other microbial pathogens, yeast needs two processes for pathogenesis: survival within the host cell and damage to host metabolic functions (Casadevall et al. 1999).

Wheeler et al. (2003) studied the virulence genes of two strains, one isolated from decaying fruit and one from a mouse infection model. The laboratory strain was virulent but plant isolate was lethal in mice. It was knockout of SSD1 gene that can alter the cell wall composition of yeast cell leading towards increased virulence of yeast cell in a mouse infection model.

The findings suggested that proinflammatory response in overstimulated cells increases the

The findings suggested that proinflammatory response in overstimulated cells increases the virulence of the mutant strain. The hypervirulent  $ssd1\Delta/ssd1\Delta$  yeast strain is a more potent elicitor of proinflammatory cytokines from macrophages in vitro. A study revealed the fact that S.

*cerevisiae* also needs the same metabolic genes as C. albicans in order to act as a pathogenic microbe (Silva et al. 2015).

## Diseases caused by Yeast

Recent studies have claimed that the rate of diseases due to fungal infections is increasing day by day. Although the mortality rate is higher for bacterial diseases (malaria and tuberculosis), fungal infections are also making new ways (James et al. 2006). Bongomin (2017) have reported the death of 1.6 million people each year due to fungal diseases. The Mycotic Diseases branch of the Centres for Disease Control is concerned about three main classes of fungal infections: opportunistic infections, community-acquired infections, and hospital-acquired infections (McCotter et al 2015). Major fungal pathogens belong to Ascomycota phylum (Heitman 2011). Dean et al (2012) have classified the seven most important plant pathogens and Kim (2016) has classified the three most systematic human pathogens as Ascomycetes. However, out of some of the several available fungal pathogens, only a few are truly capable of parasitizing human beings (Köhler et al. 2015). Candida albican is the most common yeast pathogen for human beings causing infections like oral thrush and vaginitis (Denning 2017). Several studies have reported S. cerevisiae as a causative agent of fungemia, endocarditis, pneumonia (Aucott et al. 1990, Doyle et al. 1990), peritonitis (Snyder 1992), esophagitis (Konecny 1999), vaginitis (Posteraro et al 1999) asthma (Belchi-Hernandez et al. 1996, cellulitis (Almanza et al. 1998), diarrhea (Candelli et al. 2003), and infections of the skin and urinary tract (Senneville et al. 1996). Enache-Angoulvant and Hennequin (2005) reported more than 90 cases of Saccharomyces invasive infection for which predisposing factor were similar to those of invasive candidiasis. More than 50% of fungemias were linked to the S. boulardii (a subtype of S. cerevisiae).

Algazq et al. (2017) investigated a patient suffering from laryngeal carcinoma with oral lesions and reported this patient as the first case of *S. cerevisiae* laryngitis. The microscopic examination confirmed the presence of Saccharomyces genus. The possible sources of *S. cerevisiae* infections include grapes and locally brewed beer (Olver et al. 2002).

Till now, fungemia is termed as the most severe clinical syndrome of *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*. Enache-Angoulvant and Hennequin (2005) have reported *S. cerevisiae* fungemia in 31% of immunosuppressed patients and also in healthy persons. A shocking result was obtained when Piarroux et al. (1999) isolated Saccharomyces strains from the blood of a patient who died with sepsis but no other microorganism was found in his blood cultures.

Vaginitis is mainly linked with *C. albicans* but some cases have also been observed for *S. cerevisiae* mimicking symptoms of *C. albicans* (Posteraro et al. 1999). Another study isolated the *S. cerevisiae* from the throat, stool, urine, and perineum samples of 16%, 23%, 10%, and 20% of the cases with hematologic disease (Salonen et al. 2000). It is still a mystery whether *S. cerevisiae* is a persistent commensal or just transiently present after food digestion.

Septicemia is most often caused by bacteria but Eschete and West (1980) have reported the first case of septicemia in a hyperalimented burned man caused by *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*. This was a rare case having origin in a bleeding esophageal lesion, with clinical characteristics including profound neutropenia, thrombocytopenia, hypothermia, and monocytopenia, which was also curable by amphotericin B.

The study helps us to come to a point where oral antimycotic treatment was not sufficient for all *S. cerevisiae* patients. Furthermore, isolation of *S. cerevisiae* from the vaginal tract and other places gave a conclusive statement that Saccharomyces is one of the emerging pathogens for both humans and plants and must be given proper attention before using it as a probiotic.

#### **Treatment of Yeast Infection**

Fungal pathogens have more similarities with eukaryotic human beings than prokaryotic bacteria thus putting a great challenge for microbiologists to find effective targeted drugs for fungal infections. The most common pathogen of the human being is bacteria but unfortunately, fungi have more in common with human cells than with bacterial cells. The biggest challenge is to find a drug that only breaks the fungal pathogenic pathway, not the human cells. The available drugs target the cell wall or membrane in case of fungal infections. The antifungal targets currently in use are polyenes, azoles, echinocandins, and allylamines (Bhattacharjee 2016).

The echinocandins containing caspofungin class of drugs works by targeting the catalytic subunit of 1,3  $\beta$ -glucansynthetase, which in return disrupts the cell wall formation process (Pemán et al. 2009). The important class 'Azole' includes fluconazole and itraconazole that help reduce the chances of yeast infection by interfering with the ergosterol synthesis within the cell wall of yeast (Balkis et al. 2002).

In the case of *S. cerevisiae*, the most common certified drugs available are amphotericin B, caspofungin, and azole derivatives. *S. cerevisiae* has shown susceptibility to amphotericin B (MIC<sub>90</sub>, 0.5–1 μg/mL) and fluorocytosine (MIC<sub>90</sub>, 0.25 μg/mL). Rex et al. (1997) have reported a susceptible dose-dependent range of MIC<sub>90</sub> for fluconazole and itraconazole for *C. albicans*. This fact may be used to make a new hypothesis that these drugs can play role in the emergence of *S. cerevisiae* infections. Another drug caspofungin has been tested in various cases but its impact on *S. cerevisiae* infection is still doubtful. Fungemia, the most severe syndrome is widely associated with *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*. One of the most successful treatments for *S. cerevisiae* fungemia is the immediate withdrawal of probiotics that should be further facilitated by an antifungal agent or in severe cases withdrawal of central venous catheters is recommended (Piarroux et al. 1999)

#### **Antibiotic resistance of Yeast**

Antibiotic resistance is the decrease in the sensitivity level of a microbe towards a controlling active compound. The similarity index of fungal microbes with eukaryotic cells has not only attracted the microbiologists to utilize the fungal microorganisms as a model for mammalian cell study but also has provided a barrier in the control of fungal pathogens (Moen et al. 2009). Within the mammalian cell, the antibiotic-resistance is linked to the overproduction of the ABC (ATP-binding cassette) transporter (Chang 2003). The ABC proteins are important components of both eukaryotic and fungal cells with membrane transporters that are normally present in all kingdoms. The responsibility of multi-drug resistance in the case of human cancer lies in these ABC proteins, thus leading to tumor development in cancer patients. Recently, multiple cases have been reported for resistance to chemotherapy (Dean et al. 2001). ABC proteins of eukaryotic cells have two homologous halves consisting of a nucleotide-binding domain and a transmembrane domain with six transmembrane spans. Several ABC proteins including ABCB1 (P-glycoprotein, P-gp), ACBG2, and ABCC1 offer resistance to chemotherapeutic agents by pumping cancerous drugs out of these tumor cells (Gottesman et al. 2002) However, in fungal cells, the selection of antibiotic-resistant cells is easy compared to mammalian cells due to the elevated expression of ABC transporter-encoding genes (Sanglard et al. 2009). While ABC transporters offer elevated levels of proteins in mammalian cells, they have been detected as a key issue in all fungal diseases offering a high level of antibiotic resistance. Till now, a detailed picture of antibiotic resistance is available for the yeast Saccharomyces cerevisiae. Scientists have utilized this available information of Saccharomyces cerevisiae for the detailed study of other pathogenic fungi. A phenotype known as pleiotropic drug resistance (PDR) involving transcriptional factors and ABC transporters exists in the Saccharomyces cerevisiae that has gained scientific sight recently

(Jungwirth and Kuchler 2006). Studies have shown a close relationship between the overexpression of ATP-binding cassettes (ABC) transporters such as Pdr5p, Snq2p, and Yor1p and antibiotic resistance within the yeast cells.

Commiphora molmol- a genus of the family Burseraceae (De Rapper et al., 2012) has nearly 150-

## Commiphora molmol (Myrrha)

200 species distributed through drier regions of tropical Africa with few species frequently growing in South America. The genus is widely spread from Arabia to India also making its way through Somalia, Kenya, the Middle East, and Ethiopia (Haffor, 2010). Myrrha is the aromatic resins normally collected as exudate, from the bark of Commiphora molmol (Abdul-Ghani et al., 2009). Actually, the Commiphora myrrha produces yellowish or reddish resin (gum) extracted as hardened sap-like material from the tree trunk by making longitudinal cuts (Haffor, 2010). Commiphora myrrha is a commonly used name of Commiphora molmol (Al-Ruwaili et al, 2012). The composition of myrrha resin includes 2-9% volatile oil, 23-40% resin and the rest is of watersoluble gum with cadinene, elmol, eugenol, cuminaldehyde, commipherol, and commipherin as secondary metabolites. The myrrha-like resins are also known as Indian myrrh, opopanax, balsam, bdellium, or guggul bisabol. The gum contains protein and polysaccharides while sterol, steroids, and terpenes are present in the volatile oil. Its characteristic constituents are furanosesquiterpenes such as furanoelemanes, furanoeudesmanes, and furanogermacranes (Marongiu et al., 2005). These constituents of myrrha are usually present in schizogenous or schizolysigenous ducts. Myrrha has been used as an antiseptic in the treatment of infections and inflammations. For centuries, the resins of Commiphora species have been used in aromatic products like perfumes, incenses, and aromatic wound dressings. At the beginning of the 21st century, the trend from the clinical medication was moving back toward natural herbs, most commonly in dental medication. The pharmaceutical uses of myrrha include its addition in toothpaste, mouthwashes, and gargles as aromatic antiseptic resin. Several studies have documented its antithrombotic and analgesic activity, the reason behind its use in tooth powders. In the United States, myrrha is added to nearly all kinds of toothpaste and dental powders. If we date back to 1500 BC, the myrrha oil was used with other combinations. Its oldest pharmaceutical uses include the treatment of wounds and skin sores by Ancient Egyptians (Michie & Cooper, 1991). The myrrha is frequently used with frankincense but it can also be combined with other substances like opium and red ochre.

The local habitants of northeastern Africa and Saudi Arabia still use this herb as a remedy against various infections. The oleo gum protects the gastrointestinal lining against the damaging effect of indomethacin and ethanol. Currently, myrrha is being used to help cure abrasions and other skin ailments (El Ashry et al., 2003). Its anti-inflammatory effect is approved by the European Commission as they have allowed its use against oral mucosa and other inflammations. Hanus et al. (2005) have reported its use against cancerous cells in laboratory trials.

Previously, the Chinese Traditional Medicine system relied on natural herbs including myrrha to help treat leprosy, rheumatism, and syphilis. Further, Haffor (2010) has reported myrrha use in stomach acidity in Somalia and Ethiopia. Kimura et al. (2001) have reported its beneficial effect against chronic and acute inflammations. In India, the traditional medicinal system used myrrha to treat edema, cough, constipation, hepatitis, obesity, paralysis, gout, and rheumatism. Myrrha combined with other natural herbs like Panax notoginseng, Safflower petals, Angelica sinensis, Cinnamon and Salvia miltiorrhiza in an alcoholic solution is useful for internal or external purposes (Paraskeva et al., 2008).

An amazing fact about myrrha was revealed when its glucose tolerance ability was checked in a study on rats. This study supported a decrease in blood glucose levels of both normal and diabetic rats under fasting conditions, hence proving it a beneficial agent against non-insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus (Al-Awadi & Gumaa, 1987). To summarize, the anti-inflammatory, anti-fungal, anti-cancer, and antioxidant effects of myrrha resin have been well-documented.

## **Antibacterial effect of Myrrha**

Bacterial inf ections were effectively treated with antibiotics after the discovery of penicillin. Most antibiotics were developed in the early decades after the discovery of the first commercial antibiotics. However, some new technologies have been developed recently and some are in the pipeline. Unfortunately, many antibiotics are not 100% effective treatments because of the development of resistance in bacteria (Bhattacharjee 2016). Now the top-selling effective drugs are either natural products of plant extracts or contain their derivatives (Demain and Sanchez 2009). Myrrha is recently being sighted as an antibacterial agent. Several investigations have reported its antimicrobial activity against staphylococci, *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*, *Escherichia coli*, and *Candida albicans*. However, its use as an antibiotic was rejected despite several published pieces of evidence. This could be due to the presence of toxic inorganic elements (Ahmad et al., 2017) at low dosage levels. Recently some studies have reported it as a safe antibiotic for humans after even long-term use.

Several studies have reported a weak antibacterial activity of myrrha against multiple bacteria. This could be due to the use of old and traditional testing methods designed to check the antibacterial effect against growing and viable bacteria. (Al-Madi et al., 2019) compared the antibacterial activity of myrrha resins against *Enterococcus faecalis* and *Fusobacterium* 

nucleatum, with sodium hypochlorite (NaOCl) and concluded that myrrha extract has strong and notable antibacterial activity against both *F. nucleatum* and *E. faecalis*.

A recent study by Bhattacharjee & Alenezi (2020) reported a strong antibacterial activity of myrrha against non-growing bacteria by using a new method designed specifically to check the inhibitory effect of antibiotics against dormant or non-growing bacteria. The authors also reported that bacteria could not develop resistance against this natural gum. Hurdle et al. (2011) have suggested that one possible mechanism of anti-bacterial activity against dormant bacteria can be by targeting the membrane or bacterial enzymes associated with the membrane. So it may be possible that myrrha gum disrupts the membranous proteins of bacteria as the mechanism of its anti-bacterial activity.

### II. MATERIALS

## Myrrha Extract:

Commiphora molmol (myrrha or myrrh) resin was purchased from an herbal store in Riyadh, Saudi Arabia. 4 g of myrrha resin was taken and ground thoroughly These fine pieces were soaked in 5 ml of 95% ethanol for 10 minutes. The mixture was centrifuged for 5 min at 10000 rpm and the supernatant was collected. The extraction process was repeated three more times. The combined ethanol extract was then subjected to centrifugation for 10 minutes at 10000 RPM to collect the supernatant. A rotary evaporator machine (BUCHI R-114) was used to evaporate the ethanol leaving behind 0.97 ml of oil (0.762 g/ml). Since the oil is insoluble in water, a 20% solution of the oil in ethanol was made and used a stock solution for all experiments.

#### **Microbial Strain:**

Saccharomyces cerevisiae (baker's yeast, Fleischmann) (stock LIU 288) was used throughout this experiment.

## **Peptone-glucose Broth:**

For peptone-glucose broth, 180 ml of pre-autoclaved deionized water was mixed with 6 grams of dextrose (glucose) and 1.5 grams of peptone. This solution was subjected to microwave at high power for 5 minutes and then cooled to room temperature.

## **Peptone-glucose Plates:**

For yeast growth, the peptone-glucose plates were used. These plates were prepared using the same method mentioned above with minor changes. In this, a double (2X) concentration of peptone-glucose media was prepared with 12 gm of dextrose (glucose) and 3 gm of peptone in 180 ml of pre-autoclaved deionized water. This solution was subjected to microwave at high power for 5 minutes and then cooled to room temperature. Pre-autoclaved solution of 4.5g agar in 150 ml of water was melted by heating at 50% power in a microwave with intermittent mixing. The peptone-glucose solution was added to the heated agar solution. Then, the mixture was cooled and poured to make 12 plates.

#### III. Results

## MIC of myrrha oil in nutrient-rich and nutrient-free media

Yeast was grown overnight in peptone-glucose broth. Then, 5 ml cells were centrifuged, the supernatant was discarded and the cells were re-suspended in 300  $\mu$ l of peptone-glucose broth. The cells were distributed into six tubes, 50  $\mu$ l in each tube. Different amounts of myrrha oil solution were added to the tubes to final concentrations of 0, 0.2, 0.4, 0.6, 0.8, and 0.1%. The tubes were

incubated at 30°C for 1 hour after which serial dilutions from  $10^{-2}$  to  $10^{-6}$  were spread on peptone-glucose plates and incubated for 24 hours at 30°C. Colonies that grew in each were counted. For MIC determination in phosphate buffer, 5 ml overnight grown yeast culture was centrifuged, the supernatant was discarded and the cells were washed two times in 0.02M phosphate buffer pH 7.0. Finally, the cells were resuspended in 300  $\mu$ l of 0.02M phosphate buffer pH 7.0. The remaining procedure was same as described above for MIC in peptone-glucose media.

The results in Tables 1 and 2 show that in nutrient-free buffer, the MIC of myrrha oil is 0.6% at which concentration no growth was observed. However, in nutrient rich peptone-glucose media there was one order of magnitude decrease in cell count at 0.6% myrrha but there was no further increase in inhibition above 0.6% myrrh; in fact, there was a slight increase in cell count. Thus, it can be concluded that myrrha exhibits a much stronger antimicrobial activity on yeast in nutrient free medium, in which cells are likely to be not growing than in nutrient-rich medium.

## Bactericidal activity of myrrha oil.

In order to demonstrate the bactericidal activity of myrrha oil, a rate of killing experiment was performed with the yeast in nutrient-rich peptone glucose medium as well as in nutrient-free phosphate buffer to mimic growing and non-growing bacteria respectively. First, yeast was grown overnight. Then, two 5 ml aliquots were centrifuged, the supernatants were discarded. The cell pellet in one tube was resuspended in 130  $\mu$ l fresh peptone glucose medium while the pellet in the second tube was resuspended in 1 ml nutrient-free phosphate buffer were resuspended. The cells in phosphate buffer were centrifuged again and the pellet was finally resuspended in 130  $\mu$ l of 0.02M phosphate buffer pH 7.0. The cells in each tube were distributed into two microfuge tubes, 65  $\mu$ l in each. The first tube served as control without myrrh, while myrrha oil was added to the

second tube to a final concentration of 0.6%. The tubes were incubated at 30°C for various times from 0 to 120 minutes. Then, serial dilutions from 10<sup>-2</sup> to 10<sup>-5</sup> were spread on peptone-glucose media plates and incubated for 24 hours at 30°C. The number of colonies that grew in each was counted. The results for are shown in Table 3. In nutrient-free phosphate buffer, 0.6% myrrha decreased the cell viability by 99% in just 15 min during which time there was only about 50% loss of cell viability in peptone-glucose medium. The control in each case showed very little decrease in cell viability during the 2-hour course of the experiment. Thus, myrrha oil preferentially kills non-growing yeast cells compared to growing cells. Similar results were reported for the effect of myrrha oil on bacteria (Bhattacharjee and Alenezi 2020). The inhibitory activity of myrrha can be better visualized using a plot of log CFU versus time as shown in Figure 1. The cell viability in peptone-glucose medium decreased by 2 orders of magnitude in 120 min. However, the inhibitory activity in nutrient-free phosphate buffer was much greater showing a decrease of cell viability by at least 4 orders of magnitude in less than 45 min. It is to be noted that a decrease of 4 orders of magnitude was the lower limit of detection because 10<sup>-2</sup> was the lowest dilution that was spread. In both control tubes in absence of myrrha in growth medium or in phosphate buffer, the cell viability remained almost constant throughout

## Heat stability of the antibiotic component in myrrha oil

the experiment.

Heat stability of the antibiotic in myrrha oil was determined. Yeast cells were grown overnight. Then, 5 ml of the cell culture was centrifuged, the supernatant was discarded and the cells were washed two times with 300  $\mu$ l of 0.02M phosphate buffer pH 7.0. Finally, the cells were resuspended in 300  $\mu$ l of 0.02M phosphate buffer pH 7.0. At zero time,  $10^{-4}$  and  $10^{-5}$  serial dilutions were spread on two plates as control. The remaining cells were distributed into five tubes A,B,C,D

and E, 50 μl in each tube. In a separate tube 10 μl of 20 % myrrha was taken and heated at 70°C. After heating for indicated lengths times, the tube was centrifuged for a few seconds to recollect any liquid that had evaporated and condensed on the lid. Then 1.5 μl aliquots of the preheated myrrha was added to each tube at indicated times of preheating: A (0 min), B (15 min), C (30 min), D (60 min), E (90 min). All tubes were incubated for 60 min at 30 °C and serial dilutions, 10<sup>-3</sup> and 10<sup>-2</sup> were spread on two plates. After incubation overnight at 30 °C, colonies, if any that grew on each plate were counted. The results are shown in Table 4. The results demonstrate that the myrrha oil is stable when heated to 70°C for up to 90 minutes. This is of great importance for long-term storage of the antibiotic.

### Effect of myrrha oil on yeast cells emerging from dormancy

Since myrrha oil does not have much inhibitory activity in nutrient rich medium, the question arises about how quickly yeast cells can emerge from dormancy after long-term exposure to nutrient-free buffer.

Yeast was grown overnight in 5 ml peptone-glucose medium to give an A<sub>600</sub> reading of 0.564. The cells were centrifuged, the supernatant was discarded and the cells were washed three times in 0.02M phosphate buffer pH 7.0. Finally, the cells were resuspended in 500 µl of 0.02M phosphate buffer pH 7.0 and stored at 4 °C. At indicated times (0, 2 and 24 days) 5 µl aliquots each were removed and used to inoculate 1.0 ml of peptone-glucose media containing either 0% or 0.04% or 0.10% myrrha oil. At the 24-day time point, 5 µl aliquots each were also used to inoculate 1.0 ml of nutrient-free buffer containing either 0% or 0.04% or 0.10% myrrha oil. All tubes were incubated overnight in the shaker at 30 °C. After overnight (16 hours) growth, serial dilutions of the cells as indicated, were spread on peptone-glucose plates and colonies that grew after overnight incubation were counted. Results are shown in Table 5. As seen in the table, even

after 24 days in nutrient-free buffer, cells immediately emerge from dormancy when transferred to nutrient rich medium and thus are not susceptible to the action of myrrha. However, if myrrha is added to the cells in nutrient-free buffer, all cells are killed.

## Nutrient-free buffer needed for initial entry of myrrha into cells

In this experiment, yeast cells were exposed to myrrha for only 10 min either in nutrient-rich medium or in nutrient-free buffer. The myrrha was then removed and the cells were further incubated for one hour in nutrient-free buffer. The purpose of the experiment was to determine if the nutrient-free condition is required only for initial entry of the myrrha into the cell or for further activity of the antibiotic. Yeast cells in 5 mL medium were grown overnight with shaking at 30 °C. Then, 0.6 ml aliquots of the overnight culture were taken in two Eppendorf tubes, A and B, and centrifuged. The cells in A were resuspended in 60 µl of peptone-glucose medium. Cells in B were washed twice with nutrient-free phosphate buffer and finally resuspended in 60 µl of 0.02M phosphate buffer pH 7.0. From each tube 10 µl aliquots were removed to spread 10<sup>-5</sup> and 10<sup>-4</sup> serial dilutions of cells and were considered as zero times. To the remaining 50 µl cells in each tube, 1.5 μl of the 20% myrrha extract was added (final concentration 0.6%). After 10 min at 30 °C, the two tubes were centrifuged for 1 min, the supernatants were discarded, and the cells in each tube were resuspended in 50 µl phosphate buffer. Both tubes were incubated for 60 min at 30 °C. Serial dilutions, 10<sup>-5</sup>, 10<sup>-4</sup>, 10<sup>-3</sup>, and 10<sup>-2</sup>, of the cells in each tube were spread on the plates. All plates were incubated overnight at 30 °C and colonies that grew were counted.

The results presented in Table 6 show that preincubation with myrrha in nutrient rich medium, results in very little inhibitory activity against yeast cells even though this was later followed by long incubation in nutrient-free buffer. On the other hand, there was more than 99.9 % decrease in cell viability if the initial preincubation was done in nutrient-free buffer.

## Rate of killing of yeast after pre-incubation with myrrha oil extract

The results shown in Table 6 demonstrate that brief preincubation with myrrha oil in nutrient-free medium is essential but does not conclusively prove that further incubation is necessary for more inhibition. A similar experiment was designed to determine the rate of killing after the yeast cells were preincubated with myrrha, which was then subsequently removed. Yeast cells in 5 mL medium were grown overnight with shaking at 30 °C. Then, 0.6 ml aliquots of the overnight culture were taken in two Eppendorf tubes, A and B, and centrifuged. The cells in A were resuspended in 60 µl of peptone-glucose medium. Cells in B were washed twice with nutrient-free phosphate buffer and finally resuspended in 60 µl of 0.02M phosphate buffer pH 7.0. From each tube 10 µl aliquots were removed to spread 10<sup>-5</sup> and 10<sup>-4</sup> serial dilutions of cells and were considered as zero times. To the remaining 50 µl cells in each tube, 1.5 µl of the 20% myrrha extract was added (final concentration 0.6%). After 10 min at 30 °C, the two tubes were centrifuged for 1 min, the supernatants were discarded, and the cells in each tube were resuspended in 50 μl phosphate buffer. Both tubes were incubated at 30 °C. Serial dilutions, 10<sup>-5</sup>, 10<sup>-4</sup>, 10<sup>-3</sup>, and 10<sup>-2</sup>, of the cell in each tube at indicated times (10, 20, 40, and 60 min) were spread on plates. After overnight incubation at 30 °C, the colonies that grew were counted.

The results in Table 7 show the effect of preincubation of yeast with myrrha extract. After 10 min of preincubation, the myrrha was removed by centrifugation and the cells were further incubated in nutrient-free phosphate buffer. The results show that it took at least 40 min of further incubation after the 10 min preincubation, both in nutrient-free buffer, to obtain three log units decrease in cell viability. However, if the preincubation was done in nutrient-rich medium, there no further decrease of cell viability upon further incubation in buffer. This suggests that the initial binding of the antibiotic to the cells or its entry into the cells is dependent on the presence or absence of nutrients. Thereafter, the process of killing continues with further incubation.

### **IV. Discussion**

The antibiotics which are in use today were discovered within the first five decades after the discovery of penicillin, the first commercial antibiotic. Many of these antibiotics, which were once considered to be miracle drugs are no longer as effective today. The reason behind this is the inappropriate and over usage of these drugs resulting in the development of mutant bacteria that are resistant to the antibiotics. Another disadvantage of most commercial antibiotics is that they are ineffective against non-growing cells. Inability to kill transiently non-growing bacteria (also known as persisters) is the reason why antibiotics have to be taken for about ten days even though majority of bacteria in an infectioin are killed by the first few doses.

The Commiphora molmol is a resinous and aromatic plant naturally grown in India, East Africa and Saudi Arabia and used as a traditional medicine for various problems such as mouth injury, colds and wounds. Earlier study from this lab has shown that myrrha oil has antimicrobial activity on both Gram-positive and Gram-negative bacteria (Bhattacharjee and Alenezi 2020). Myrrha oil has the unique property of preferentially killing non-growing bacteria in nutrient-free buffer. It has weak antibiotic activity in nutrient-rich growth medium. Along with a bacteriostatic antibiotic such as chloramphenicol, myrrha oil is able to kill all cells present in a population even in nutrient-rich growth medium. In this study the antimicrobial activity of myrrha oil against yeast was tested. The results in Table 1 and 2 show that the MIC of myrrha oil against yeast in nutrient-free buffer is 0.6%, which killed all cells. MIC in nutrient-rich growth medium could not be determined because inhibitory activity is weak. Rate of killing experiment (Table 3 and Figure 1) also showed that myrrha oil is active in nutrient-free buffer, in which all cells were killed in 45 min during which time there was less than one log unit decrease in cell viability in nutrient rich growth medium.

One important property that myrrha oil has is that the active component in it is highly stable to heating at 70 °C for more than 90 min. Such a property is often found in membrane acting antibiotic. The target site is still unknown but it is believed that the biochemical process taking place in dormant or non-growing cells, may be the bacterial membranes or associated enzymes are involved in the process. Further research is required to study the mechanism of action of myrrha oil. Future studies will also focus on toxicity of myrrha on the host (human) cells. Since myrrha has been widely used for centuries as a traditional medicine suggests that it will not be toxic for the host. Myrrha oil probably contains many compounds. The active component in it is not yet known. More work is needed to identify the active compound in myrrha oil.

#### Conclusion

The traditional use of the plants for medicinal properties is the basis for deciding which essential oils and plant extracts to investigate further. Previously, many plant oils and extracts, like myrrh, clove, tea tree were in use as topical antiseptics. They were reported to have antimicrobial properties. In this study the extract from myrrha oil was used to study its antibiotic activity both in the presence and absence of nutrients.

The results suggest that the extract from myrrha could be a promising antifungal drug. Its antifungal activity was much higher in nutrient-free buffer than in regular growth medium. This makes it a unique antibiotic that preferentially kills non-growing yeast. In earlier work from this lab it was revealed that myrrha oil preferentially kills non-growing gram-positive or gram-negative bacteria and no resistant mutant of *E. coli* could be obtained even after repeated passages of the bacteria.

For future studies it is necessary to isolate and identify the active ingredient responsible for antifungal activity in myrrha extract. It is possible that there may be more than one active ingredients in the plant extract. Their relative activities and possible synergistic interaction between them can be investigated.

#### References

Abdul-Ghani RA, Loutfy N and Hassan A (2009) Myrrh and trematodoses in Egypt: an overview of safety, efficacy and effectiveness profiles. *Parasitol. Inter.* 58:210 214.

Ahamad SR, Al-Ghadeer, AR, Ali R, Qamar W and Aljarboa S (2017) Analysis of inorganic and organic constituents of myrrh resin by GC–MS and ICP-MS: An emphasis on medicinal assets. *Saudi Pharmaceutical Journal* 25(5), 788–794.

Algazaq JN, Akrami K, Martinez F, McCutchan A and Bharti AR (2017) Saccharomyces cerevisiae Laryngitis and Oral Lesions in a Patient with Laryngeal Carcinoma. *Case Rep Infect Dis* 2017:2941527. doi: 10.1155/2017/2941527. Epub 2017 Nov 26.

Al-Madi EM, Almohaimede AA, Al-Obaida MI and Awaad AS. (2019). Comparison of the antibacterial efficacy of Commiphora molmol and sodium hypochlorite as root canal irrigants against Enterococcus faecalis and Fusobacterium nucleatum. *Evidence-Based Complementary and Alternative Medicine* 2019:6916795. doi: 10.1155/2019/6916795

Almanza L, Debien B, Fontaine B, Brinquin L (1998) Four hours for a record, or a severe fuminating cellulitis: can Saccharomyces cerevisiae be the causal agent? *Ann Fr Anesth Reanim* 17(2):130-2. doi: 10.1016/s0750-7658(98)80061-0.

Aucott JN, Fayen J, Grossnicklas H, Morrissey A, Lederman MM and Salata RA (1990) Invasive infection with Saccharomyces cerevisiae: report of three cases and review. *Rev Infect Dis* 12(3):406-11. doi: 10.1093/clinids/12.3.406.

Al-Awadi FM, Gumaa KA (1987) Studies on the activity of individual plants of an antidiabetic plant mixture. *Acta Diabetol Lat* 24(1):37-41. doi: 10.1007/BF02732051.

Balkis MM, Leidich SD, Mukherjee PK and Ghannoum MA (2002) Mechanisms of fungal resistance: an overview. *Drugs* 62(7):1025-40. doi: 10.2165/00003495-200262070-00004.

Belchi-Hernandez J, Mora-Gonzalez A and Iniesta-Perez J (1996) Baker's asthma caused by Saccharomyces cerevisiae in dry powder form. *J Allergy Clin Immunol* 97(1 Pt 1):131-4. doi: 10.1016/s0091-6749(96)70293-2.

Bhattacharjee MK (2016) Introduction to antibiotics. Chemistry of Antibiotics and Related Drugs. Springer International Publishing, Switzerland, Geneva, p 1–25

Bhattacharjee MK and Alenezi T (2020) Antibiotic in myrrh from Commiphora molmol preferentially kills nongrowing bacteria. *Future Science OA* 6(4), FSO458.

Bongomin F, Gago S, Oladele RO and Denning DW (2017) Global and Multi-National Prevalence of Fungal Diseases-Estimate Precision. *J Fungi (Basel)* 3(4):57. doi: 10.3390/jof3040057.

Candelli M, Nista EC, Nestola M, Armuzzi A, Silveri NG, Gasbarrini G and Gasbarrini A (2003) Saccharomyces cerevisiae-associated diarrhea in an immunocompetent patient with ulcerative colitis. *J Clin Gastroenterol* 36(1):39-40. doi: 10.1097/00004836-200301000-00012.

Casadevall A and Pirofski LA (1999) Host-pathogen interactions: redefining the basic concepts of virulence and pathogenicity. *Infect Immun* 67(8):3703-13. doi: 10.1128/IAI.67.8.3703-3713.1999.

Chang G (2003) Multidrug resistance ABC transporters. *FEBS Lett* 555(1):102-5. doi: 10.1016/s0014-5793(03)01085-8.

Dean M, Hamon Y and Chimini G (2001) The human ATP-binding cassette (ABC) transporter superfamily. *J Lipid Res* 42(7):1007-17.

Dean R, Van Kan JAL, Pretorius ZA, Hammond-Kosack KE, Di Pietro A, Spanu PD, Rudd, Marty Dickman JJ, Kahmann R, Ellis J and Foster GD (2012) The Top 10 fungal pathogens in molecular plant pathology. *Mol Plant Pathol* 13(4):414-30. doi: 10.1111/j.1364-3703.2011.00783.x.

De Rapper S, Van Vuuren SF, Kamatou GPP, Viljoen AM and Dagne E (2012) The additive and synergistic antimicrobial effects of select frankincense and myrrh oils—a combination from the pharaonic pharmacopoeia. *Letters in Applied Microbiology* 54(4), 352–358.

Demain AL, Sanchez S (2009) Microbial drug discovery: 80 years of progress. *J Antibiot* 62, 5–16.

Denning DW (2017) Calling upon all public health mycologists: To accompany the country burden papers from 14 countries. *Eur J Clin Microbiol Infect Dis* 36(6):923-924. doi: 10.1007/s10096-017-2909-8.

Doyle MG, Pickering LK, O'Brien N, Hoots K and Benson JE (1990) Saccharomyces cerevisiae infection in a patient with acquired immunodeficiency syndrome. *Pediatr Infect Dis J* 9(11):850-1

Van der Does H and Rep M (2017) Adaptation to the Host Environment by Plant-Pathogenic Fungi. *Annu Rev Phytopathol* 55:427-450. doi: 10.1146/annurev-phyto-080516-035551

El Ashry ESH, Rashed N, Salama OM and Saleh A (2003) Components, therapeutic value and uses of myrrh. *Pharmazie* 58(3):163-8.

Enache-Angoulvant A and Hennequin C (2005) Invasive Saccharomyces infection: a comprehensive review. *Clin Infect Dis* 41(11):1559-68. doi: 10.1086/497832. Epub 2005 Nov 1.

Eschete ML and West BC (1980) Saccharomyces cerevisiae septicemia. *Arch Intern Med* 140(11):1539.

Gottesman MM, Fojo T and Bates SE (2002) Multidrug resistance in cancer: role of ATP-dependent transporters. *Nat Rev Cancer* 2(1):48-58. doi: 10.1038/nrc706.

Haffor A-SA. (2010) Effect of myrrh (Commiphora molmol) on leukocyte levels before and during healing from gastric ulcer or skin injury. *Journal of Immunotoxicology* 7(1), 68–75. https://doi.org/10.3109/15476910903409835

Hanus LO, Rezanka T, Dembitsky VM, Moussaieff A (2005) Myrrh-Commiphora chemistry. *Biomed Pap Med Fac Univ Palacky Olomouc Czech Repub* 149(1):3-27. doi: 10.5507/bp.2005.001.

Heitman, J (2011) Microbial Pathogens in the Fungal Kingdom. *Fungal Biol Rev* 25(1):48-60. doi: 10.1016/j.fbr.2011.01.003

Hurdle JG, O'Neill AJ, Chopra I and Lee RE (2011) Targeting bacterial membrane function: an underexploited mechanism for treating persistent infections. Nature Reviews Microbiology, 9(1), 62–75. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrmicro2474

James TY, Kauff F, Schoch CL, Matheny PB, Hofstetter V, Cox CJ, Celio G et al. (2006) Reconstructing the early evolution of Fungi using a six-gene phylogeny. *Nature* 443(7113):818-22. doi: 10.1038/nature05110.

Jungwirth H and Kuchler K (2006) Yeast ABC transporters-- a tale of sex, stress, drugs and aging. *FEBS Lett* 580(4):1131-8. doi: 10.1016/j.febslet.2005.12.050.

Kasemets K, Ivask A, Dubourguier H-C, Kahru A (2009) Toxicity of nanoparticles of ZnO, CuO and TiO2 to yeast Saccharomyces cerevisiae. *Toxicol in Vitro* 23(6):1116-22. doi: 10.1016/j.tiv.2009.05.015.

Kim J-Y (2016) Human fungal pathogens: Why should we learn? *J Microbiol* 54(3):145-8. doi: 10.1007/s12275-016-0647-8.

Kimura I, Yoshikawa M, Kobayashi S, Sugihara Y, Suzuki M, Oominami H, Murakami T, Matsuda H, Doiphode VV (2001) New triterpenes, myrrhanol A and myrrhanone A, from guggul-gum resins, and their potent anti-inflammatory effect on adjuvant-induced air-pouch granuloma of mice. *Bioorg Med Chem Lett* 11(8):985-9. doi: 10.1016/s0960-894x(01)00111-1.

Köhler JR, Casadevall A and Perfect J (2014) The spectrum of fungi that infects humans. *Cold Spring Harb Perspect Med* 5(1):a019273. doi: 10.1101/cshperspect.a019273.

Konecny P, Drummond FM, Tish KN and Tapsall JW (1999) Saccharomyces cerevisiae oesophagitis in an HIV-infected patient. *Int J STD AIDS* 10(12):821-2. doi: 10.1258/0956462991913475

Marongiu B, Piras A, Porcedda S and Scorciapino A (2005) Chemical composition of the essential oil and supercritical CO2 extract of Commiphora myrrha (Nees) Engl. and of Acorus calamus L. *J Agric Food Chem* 53(20):7939-43. doi: 10.1021/jf051100x.

McCotter OZ, Smith RM, Westercamp M, Kerkering TM, Malani AN, Latham R, Peglow SL, Mody RK, Pappas PG and Chiller TM (2015) Update on Multistate Outbreak of Fungal Infections Associated with Contaminated Methylprednisolone Injections, 2012-2014. *MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep* 64(42):1200-1. doi: 10.15585/mmwr.mm6442a4.

Michie CA and Cooper E (1991) Frankincense and myrrh as remedies in children. *J R Soc Med* 84(10):602-5.

Moen MD, Lyseng-Williamson KA and Scott LJ (2009) Liposomal amphotericin B: a review of its use as empirical therapy in febrile neutropenia and in the treatment of invasive fungal infections. *Drugs* 69(3):361-92. doi: 10.2165/00003495-200969030-00010.

Ocampo A and Barrientos A (2008) From the bakery to the brain business: developing inducible yeast models of human neurodegenerative disorders. *Biotechniques* 45(4): vii-xiv. doi: 10.2144/000112746

Olver WJ, James. SA, Lennard A, Galloway A, Roberts IN, Boswell TC and Russell NH (2002) Nosocomial transmission of Saccharomyces cerevisiae in bone marrow transplant patients. *J Hosp Infect* 52(4):268-72. doi: 10.1053/jhin.2002.1314.

Pappas PG, Lionakis MS, Arendrup MC, Ostrosky-Zeichner L, Kullberg BJ (2018) Invasive candidiasis. *Nat Rev Dis Primers* 4:18026. doi: 10.1038/nrdp.2018.26

Paraskeva MP, van Vuuren SF, van Zyl RL, Davids H, Viljoen AM (2008) The in vitro biological activity of selected South African Commiphora species. *J Ethnopharmacol* 119(3):673-9. doi: 10.1016/j.jep.2008.06.029.

Pemán J, Cantón E and Espinel-Ingroff A (2009) Antifungal drug resistance mechanisms. *Expert Rev Anti Infect Ther* 7(4):453-60. doi: 10.1586/eri.09.18.

Piarroux R, Millon L, Bardonnet K, Vagner O and Koenig H (1999) Are live saccharomyces yeasts harmful to patients? *Lancet* 353(9167):1851-2. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(99)02001-2.

Posteraro B, Sanguinetti M, D'Amore G, Masucci L, Morace G and Fadda G (1999) Molecular and epidemiological characterization of vaginal Saccharomyces cerevisiae isolates. *J Clin Microbiol* 37(7):2230-5. doi: 10.1128/JCM.37.7.2230-2235.1999.

Rex JH, Pfaller MA, Galgiani JN, Bartlett MS, Espinel-Ingroff A, Ghannoum MA, Lancaster M, Odds FC, Rinaldi MG and Walsh TJ (1997). "Development of interpretive breakpoints for antifungal susceptibility testing: conceptual framework and analysis of in vitro-in vivo correlation data for fluconazole, itraconazole, and Candida infections." 24(2): 235-247.

Rex JH, Pfaller MA, Galgiani JN, Bartlett MS, Espinel-Ingroff A, Ghannoum MA, Lancaster M, Odds FC, Rinaldi MG and Walsh TJ and Barry AL (1997) Development of interpretive breakpoints for antifungal susceptibility testing: conceptual framework and analysis of in vitro-in vivo correlation data for fluconazole, itraconazole, and candida infections. Subcommittee on

Antifungal Susceptibility Testing of the National Committee for Clinical Laboratory Standards. *Clin Infect Dis* 24(2):235-47. doi: 10.1093/clinids/24.2.235.

Al-Ruwaili MA, Khalil OM, Selim SA (2012) Viral and bacterial infections associated with camel (Camelus dromedarius) calf diarrhea in North Province, Saudi Arabia. *Saudi J Biol Sci* 19(1):35-41. doi: 10.1016/j.sjbs.2011.10.001.

Salonen JH, Richardson MD, Gallacher K, Issakainen J, Helenius H, Lehtonen OP and Nikoskelainen J (2000) Fungal colonization of haematological patients receiving cytotoxic chemotherapy: emergence of azole-resistant Saccharomyces cerevisiae. *J Hosp Infect* 45(4):293-301. doi: 10.1053/jhin.1999.0718.

Sanglard D, Coste A and Ferrari S (2009) Antifungal drug resistance mechanisms in fungal pathogens from the perspective of transcriptional gene regulation. *FEMS Yeast Res* 9(7):1029-50. doi: 10.1111/j.1567-1364.2009.00578.x.

Schenone M, Dančík V, Wagner BK and Clemons PA (2013) Target identification and mechanism of action in chemical biology and drug discovery. *Nat Chem Biol* 9(4): 232-240. doi: 10.1038/nchembio.1199

Schwartz M, Fisher S, Story-Roller E, Lamichhane G, Parrish N (2018) Activities of Dual Combinations of Antibiotics Against Multidrug-Resistant Nontuberculous Mycobacteria Recovered from Patients with Cystic Fibrosis. *Microb Drug Resist* 1191-1197. doi: 10.1089/mdr.2017.0286.

Senneville E, Ajana F, Gerard Y, Bourez JM, Alfandari S, Chidiac C and Mouton Y (1996) Bilateral ureteral obstruction due to Saccharomyces cerevisiae fungus balls. *Clin Infect Dis* 23(3):636-7. doi: 10.1093/clinids/23.3.636.

Silva DN, Duplessis S, Talhinhas P, Azinheira H, Paulo OS and Batista D (2015) Genomic Patterns of Positive Selection at the Origin of Rust Fungi. *PLoS One* 10(12):e0143959. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0143959.

Snyder S (1992) Peritonitis due to Saccharomyces cerevisiae in a patient on CAPD. *Perit Dial Int* 12(1):77-8.

Wheeler RT, Kupiec N, Magnelli P, Abeijon C and Fink GR (2003) A Saccharomyces cerevisiae mutant with increased virulence. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 100(5):2766-70. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0437995100.

Table 1: Minimum inhibitory concentration of myrrha oil in peptone-glucose media.

Oil concentration	Number of viable cells (CFU/ml)								
%	(10 <sup>3</sup> /ml)	(10 <sup>4</sup> /ml)	(10 <sup>5</sup> /ml)	(10 <sup>6</sup> /ml)	Weighted average (10 <sup>6</sup> CFU/ml)				
0	-	-	178	15	17.5				
0.2	-	-	210	-	21.0				
0.4	1672	-	156	-	1.8				
0.6	1435	-	128	-	1.4				
0.8	1717	951	-	-	2.4				
1.0	-	652	-	-	6.5				

Table 2: Minimum inhibitory concentration of myrrha oil in phosphate buffer.

Oil concentration	Number of viable cells (CFU/ml)							
%	10 <sup>3</sup> /ml	10 <sup>5</sup> /ml	10 <sup>6</sup> /ml	Weighted average (10 <sup>6</sup> CFU/ml)				
0.0	-	77	14	8.3				
0.2	1060	37	-	1.1				
0.4	447	7	-	0.45				
0.6	0	-	-	0.00				
0.8	0	-	-	0.00				
1.0	0	-	-	0.00				

**Table 3.** Rate of killing of *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* by 0.6% Myrrha oil. A. In nutrient-rich peptone-glucose medium. B. In nutrient-free phosphate buffer. (\*) The lower limit of detection was <100 CFU/ml because  $10^{-2}$  was the lowest dilution that was spread.

A	Without Myrrha Oil					With 0.6% Myrrha Oil				
Time (min)	CFU/ml (10³/ml)	CFU/ml (10 <sup>5</sup> /ml)	Weighted Average CFU/ml	Log Average CFU/ml	Survival (%)	CFU/ml (10³/ml)	CFU/ml (10 <sup>5</sup> /ml)	Weighted Average CFU/ml	Log Average CFU/ml	Survival (%)
0	1100	76	1164,000	6.07	100	-	-	1164,000	6.07	100
15	1000		1000,000	6.00	86	590	29	613,000	5.79	53
25	960	89	1039,000	6.02	89	163	0	163,000	5.21	14
45	1080	78	1147,000	6.06	99	150	0	150,000	5.18	13
60	800	101	892,000	5.95	77	42	0	42,000	4.62	3.6
120	790	70	851,000	5.93	73	10	0	10,000	4.00	0.9

В	Without Myrrha Oil					With 0.6% Myrrha Oil				
Time (min)	CFU/ml (10³/ml)	CFU/ml (10 <sup>5</sup> /ml)	Weighted Average CFU/ml	Log Average CFU/ml	Survival (%)	CFU/ml (10²/ml)	CFU/ml (10³/ml)	Weighted Average CFU/ml	Log Average CFU/ml	Survival (%)
0	841	76	908,000	5.96	100	-	-	908,000	5.96	100
15	568	64	626,000	5.80	70	84	0	8,400	4.99	0.9
25	800	82	873,000	5.94	96	7	0	700	2.84	0.08
45	657	112	761,000	5.88	84	0	0	< 100*	<2.0	0.0
60	1180	78	1,245,000	6.10	137	0	0	< 100	<2.0	0.0
120	800	61	852,000	5.93	94	0	0	< 100	<2.0	0.0

Table 4: Heat stability of the antibiotic component in myrrha oil

[Myrrha]	Pre-heating of myrrha at 70 °C (min)	CFU 10 <sup>2</sup> /ml	CFU 10 <sup>3</sup> /ml	CFU 10 <sup>4</sup> /ml	CFU 10 <sup>5</sup> /ml	Weighted Average CFU/mL	Log Average CFU/ml
0				1101	165	11,510,000	7.06
0.6 %	0	0	0			< 100*	< 2.0
0.6 %	15	0	0			< 100	< 2.0
0.6 %	30	0	0			< 100	< 2.0
0.6 %	60	0	0			< 100	< 2.0
0.6 %	90	0	0			< 100	< 2.0

<sup>(\*)</sup> The lower limit of detection was <100 CFU/ml because 10<sup>-2</sup> was the lowest dilution that was spread.

Table 5. Effect of myrrha oil on yeast cells emerging from dormancy.

In Buffer	Growth condition at	Number of viable cells (CFU/ml)			Weighted Average	%
at 4 °C	37°C	$(10^3/\text{ml})$	$\frac{(010^4/\text{ml})}{(10^4/\text{ml})}$	$(10^5/ml)$	(10 <sup>6</sup> CFU/ml)	Viability
	medium + 0.0% Myrrha		740	220	8,727,000	6.94
0 days	medium + 0.04% Myrrha	1260	745		1,823,000	6.26
	medium + 0.01% Myrrha	923	663		1,586,000	6.20
	medium + 0.0% Myrrha		1130	990	19,270,000	7.28
2 days	medium + 0.04% Myrrha	1145	1065		2,009,000	6.30
	medium + 0.01% Myrrha	1215	890		1,914,000	6.28
	medium + 0.0% Myrrha		1280	432	15,560,000	7.19
24 days	medium + 0.04% Myrrha	1423	844		2,061,000	6.31
	medium + 0.01% Myrrha	1194	802		1,815,000	6.26
	buffer + 0.0% Myrrha		73	11	760,000	4.88
24 days	buffer + 0.04% Myrrha	0			< 1000	< 3.00
	buffer + 0.01% Myrrha	0			< 1000	< 3.00

Table 6. Nutrient-free condition is required only for initial entry of the myrrha into yeast cells

Cell Treatment Conditions	Preincubation With Myrrha	Incubation Without Myrrha	CFU 10 <sup>2</sup> /ml	CFU 10³/ml	CFU 10 <sup>4</sup> /ml	CFU 10 <sup>5</sup> /ml	Weighted Average CFU/ml	Log Average CFU
In nutrient-	none	none			1832	558	21,730,000	7.34
rich medium	10 min in medium	60 min in buffer		1360	880	393	2,372,000	6.38
In nutrient-	none	none			1405	667	18,840,000	7.28
free buffer	10 min in buffer	60 min in buffer	60	9	0	0	6273	3.80

Table 7: Rate of killing of yeast after pre-incubation with myrrha oil extract

Cell Treatment Conditions	Preincubation With Myrrha	Incubation in Buffer Without Myrrha	CFU 10 <sup>2</sup> /ml	CFU 10³/ml	CFU 10 <sup>4</sup> /ml	CFU 10 <sup>5</sup> /ml	Weighted Average CFU/ml	Log Average CFU
	none	none			1940	737	24,336,000	7.4
In		10 min		1722	985	692	3,062,000	6.5
nutrient- rich	10 min in	20 min		1985	1105	602	3,326,000	6.5
medium	medium	40 min		1736	1233	588	3,204,000	6.5
		60 min		1315	840	358	2,264,000	6.4
	none	none			1565	650	20,136,000	7.3
In		10 min	552	126	83	0	68,600	4.8
nutrient- free	10 min in	20 min	189	62	23	0	24,700	4.4
buffer	buffer	40 min	92	19	0	0	10,100	4.0
		60 min	75	8	0	0	7,550	3.9

**Fig. 1**. Rate of killing of *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* in presence (filled symbols) or absence (open symbols) of 0.6% Myrrha oil in nutrient rich peptone-glucose medium (squares) or nutrient-free phosphate buffer (circles).

